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RELIGIOUS HISTORY 

After the tithes of Mosser were assigned to Brigham in 1220, the township community 

presumably looked to the parish church of Brigham, four miles away, for religious needs and 

rites of passage: by the seventeenth century, the inhabitants of Mosser were regularly baptised, 

married and buried at Brigham.1 

The church of St Michael (formerly dedicated to St Philip), a ‘tiny fell chapel’ with a bellcote and 

plain, oblong windows,2 stands in the fields between Mosser Mains and Mossergate.  Its origins 

lay in the foundation of a chantry in Brigham parish.  In 1546 Mosser chapel was held by an 

elderly priest named Harry Bankes, who received an annual stipend of £4 from Thomas Salkeld 

of Corby, the lord of the manor, though the chantry was endowed with lands and a watermill, of 

which at least some appear to have been in Mosser, yielding an annual rental income of over £7.3  

In 1653, John Banks, a fifteen-year-old youth, son of a local fellmonger, was reader at Mosser 

chapel: whether his family was connected with that of the chantry priest Harry Bankes has not 

been established.  His duties were to read the Scriptures and homily, sing psalms and lead prayer 

on Sundays, for which he received a salary of 12d. yearly from each household on top of free 

board and lodging, probably an example of the ‘whittlegate’ system by which readers in 

Cumbrian chapels of ease were often maintained.4  The chapel seems to have fallen into disrepair 

not long afterwards: it was said to have been ‘down’ for about one hundred years when it was 

rebuilt by subscription in 1773.5  Prior to rebuilding, the site was bought by three trustees, who 

vested the right to nominate a curate in all who contributed chapel dues.6  The subscribers 

included inhabitants of the neighbouring townships of Blindbothel and Whinfell, as well as 

Mosser,7 suggesting that the chapel was intended to serve Anglicans in the three communities, 

none of which had a chapel of ease and all of which contained significant numbers of Quakers.  

The chapel was endowed with an annual salary of £4, given by the subscribers, the income from 

a small field, valued in 1779 at 25s. per year, augmented by a grant from Queen Anne’s Bounty 
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of £200.8  In 1829 the endowment was valued at £45 15s. and in 1851at £55 to £60.9  The chapel 

of St Philip and its small adjacent burial ground were consecrated in 1776. 10   

In the late eighteenth century, the right to nominate was claimed by the inhabitants of the 

chapelry (defined as the townships of Mosser, Blindbothel and Whinfell), who regarded 

themselves as patrons with the right to ‘elect and appoint’ curates.11  In 1802, however, Viscount 

Lowther nominated and the Lowther family thenceforth exercised patronage,12 until the earl of 

Lonsdale transferred the advowson to the bishop of Carlisle in 1889.13 The district served by the 

church was redefined in 1883 when a new ecclesiastical parish was established, combining 

Mosser with the townships of Eaglesfield and Blindbothel and the western part of Whinfell 

township.14  A new church, the John Dalton Memorial Church, was built outside the village of 

Eaglesfield in 1890-1, replacing the church at Mosser as the focus for religious life in the newly-

expanded parish.15  The dedication to St Philip was transferred to the new church, the old chapel 

at Mosser church becoming known as St Michael’s.16 

In the years following the rebuilding of the chapel in 1773, services were held twice on Sundays, 

except during the two winter months, and communion only rarely.  The congregation appears to 

have been small, the number of communicants in 1779 being only 14.17  In the late eighteenth 

century the curacy was held in rapid succession by a series of young local men in their twenties.18  

Greater stability was achieved in the nineteenth century when the chapel was held in plurality 

with neighbouring livings, first, from 1802 to 1823 by John Sibson, incumbent of Lorton, then 

from 1823 to 1870 by Samuel Sherwen, rector of Dean; both appointed assistants to act in their 

stead.19  In 1851 services were held morning and afternoon in alternate weeks: the afternoon 

congregation on census day was 22, but attendance varied widely depending on the weather.  

The curate noted ‘I have been there when there was none present on a wet day & I have seen 

above 100 in the chapel’.20  After the building of the new church, the old chapel was used only 

for Sunday afternoon services during the summer months.21  The church was renovated in 1923-
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4 and continued in use as a subsidiary chapel.22  In 2011 ‘the fell church of St Michaels’ remained 

in occasional use for services.23 

A substantial proportion of the inhabitants of Mosser were nonconformists in the seventeenth 

and eighteenth centuries.  The Quaker meeting just outside the township at Pardshaw Hall, 

established as a result of George Fox’s preaching journey through Cumberland in 1653, was one 

of the largest rural meetings in England and included inhabitants of Mosser from its earliest 

days.24  Writing in 1687, Thomas Denton commented that the inhabitants of Mosser were 

‘allmost all Quakers, being too near neighbours to Pardsey-crag, and too far distant from any 

church’.25  Prominent among the first generation of Quakers were John Banks, the young reader 

at the chapel, and John Steel of Graythwaite.26  Across the later seventeenth and eighteenth 

centuries Mosser contained a strong body of interconnected yeomen Quaker dynasties: the 

Robinsons of Beech Hill; Wilsons of Graythwaite; Burnyeats of Mosser Mains; Allasons and 

Fawcetts of Mossergate; Harrises, Rogers and Fletchers of Underwood and Fletchers of 

Whinnah.27  By the latter decades of the century, when the number of Quakers in the chapelry 

was said to be declining,28 there were seven Quaker families in the township, probably 

accounting for approximately one-third of the population.29  The decline in the number of 

Quakers in the later eighteenth century can be attributed in large part to disownments as a result 

of marriage to non-Quakers.30  By the early twentieth century the Quaker community at Mosser 

had declined to extinction.31 

In the later eighteenth century, at least one family in Mosser appear to have been members of the 

Independent congregation at Cockermouth.32 
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